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I t  was, in principle and in act, an unrighteous usurpation, 

and the curse of God was on it from the first. This is the 

great lesson to be learnt from the conten~plation of all the 

circuinstnnces of the Afghan IYar. "The Lord God of 

recompenses shall surely requite."-ii'bye's Ifisto~y of tAe Writ- 

i ? z  Afg/ratrista?r. 



T H E  AFGHAN POLICY. 

NOTHING fades so rapidly from our recollection as the history 
of our own time, and there are doubtless many thousand well- 
informed persons, who have already forgotten the train of 
circu~nstances that led to the two unhappy wars which the 
Beaconsfield Administration has waged in Afghanistan. 

I t  has been thought right, accordingly, that some one should 
put together a brief narrative of what has occurred, and should, 
without entering much into detail, bring once more prominently 
forward the points which ought to be fixed in the memory of the 
public. 

'The first thing which it is desirable to make perfectly clear 
is that it was the Liberals and not the Conservatives who took 
the initiative in calling the attention of the country, through the 
House of Commons, to the advance of Russia in Central Asia, 
The  circumstances were these :- 

More than forty years ago, misled by delusions the remem- 
brance of which will ever remain as a blot upon their fair fame, 
a group of English statesmen promoted or sanctioned the 
invasion of Afghanistan. That invasion was at first successful. 
Success led to over-confidence and over-confidence brought 
about hideous and intolerable disasters. Those disasters were 
irreparable, but some scrt of satisfaction was given to our 
military honour by the avenging march of Pollock to Cabul, the 
capital of Afghanistan. From first to last, however, except in so. 
far as we were able to say that we, one of the most civilised and 
advanced of nations, had got without final military disgrace out of 
a country defended by half-armed barbarians whom we had, in the  
first instance, most unjustly attacked, the whole business, from the 
Sinlla inanifesto of Lord Auckland to the proclamation of Lord 
Ellenborough about the gates of Somnauth, was one long folly, 
only saved fro111 being ridiculous by numerous grisly and sickening 
episodes. 

From the end of the first Afghan \Ir;lr up to quite recent 
times we had hardly any intercourse with Afghanistan. I t  was 
ruled by Dost Mahorned, with who111 we had fought, but who 
lived to make, under circun~stances into which we need not enter, 
two treaties with us, to both of which he held in honour and good 
faith. 

During all his lifetime, Russia which was a considerable 
Asiatic power long before we were, and the European dominions 



of which, unlike our own, are separated froin Asia only by 
an imaginary line, was moving south and east just as we 
were moving north and west. How quickly we were inoving north 
and west may be gathered from the fact that an officer 
who had commanded as an ensign at Thannah, a place about 
twenty iniles north of Bombay, lived to command as a colonel at 
Peshawur, a thousand miles north-west of Bombay. During all 
this time Russia had no more right to conlplain of our advance, 
or to address to us any observations on the subject, than we had 
to complain of her advance, or address to her any observations on 
the subject. If our respective conquests had been made in 
different planets they would have had just as much bearing upon 
each other as they actually had. 

I t  stands to reason, however, that if two great Powers are 
advancing towards each other, a time must come when their 
movements do become of consequence to each other, and that 
time arrived for us, in the course of the sixties. Long ere that we 
had reached the natural boundary of India-the mighty mountain 
line which runs west of and parallel to the River Indus. All 
sensible Britons were agreed that this was the extreme limit, 
prescribed by nature, to British power in Asia ; that any annexation 
beyond the Suleiman range meant, not national advantage but 
national calamity. Russia, however, had by no ineans arrived at 
any natural boundary ; she had no Suleirnan range ; she was 
being led on amongst the arid plains of Tartary by precisely the 
same causes which had led us on towards that barrier across the 
fertile fields of India ;* and two questions began frequently to be 
asked amongst persons who occupied thenlselves sl~ecially with 
Indian and foreign affairs, " Where will she stop," " Is it desirable 
or not that she should come up to our boundary ?" Most of the few 
people who interested themselves in these matters answered the 
last question, as I think rightly, in the negative. They thought 
that it zetas desirable that at least for a considerable time to come 
there should be a pretty wide space between the two Empires, 
between the comparatively high civilisation of the Briton and the 
lower civilisation of the Muscovite. 

Our Conservative friends woulcl much like to be able to say, 
as they constantly insinuate, that the Liberals were caught napping, 
so to speak, by the advance of Russia ; that it was a Conservative 
Administration which came forward and warned the country not to 
treat the Russian advance as a bugbear, but to look it calmly in 
the face, and see that, in old Roman phrase, the commonwealth 
took no damage. 

Unhappily, for them, however, they can with truth say nothing 
of the kind. I t  was a member of the Liberal party, a bitter enemy 

* It should be remembered. too, that the country which we annexed was 
immensely more populous than that which fell to the lot of Iiussia. 



of the policy which has been adopted by the Beaconsfield 
Administration in dealing with Afghanistan, who, in July, 1868, 
spoke as follows :- 

" SIR,-~ should have been sorry if this conversation had come 
to  an end without my having had an opportunity of expressing 
my very great regret that one of those untoward accidents to 
which the House is subject, should have prevented the Hon. and 
Gallant General, the member for Frome (Sir Henry Rawlinson), 
bringing before us a subject which will, I fear, however favourably 
matters may turn out, exert a sinister influence on many future 
Indian budgets. I allude, of course, to the recent advance of 
Russia in Central Asia. I aln as far as possible from being an 
alarmist on this question. Some who have given much attention 
to it say that I am too little of an alarmist ; but I do think that 
even in this crowded Session this matter should not have been 
passed by. There is a difference between panic and wise foresight. 
A discussion inaugurated as it would have been by the Hon. and 
Gallant General, with whose views some of us do, and some of us 
d o  not agree, but whose acquaintance with a certain portion of 
the subject we all admit to be great and almost unique, would 
have enlightened opinion in Europe, strengthened the hands of 
the Viceroy * in what I consider his wise policy, and, above all, 
calmed opinion in India. Far be it from us to wish to see a 
revival of the Anti-Russian feeling of thirty years ago ; but let us 
not deceive ourselves. This is a grave matter. I t  is for the 
interest of all of us, and above all for the interest of the Govern- 
ment for the time being, that all the best information and all the 
best thought about Russia, which exists in Western Europe, should 
be called out for our guidance, and it is known to everyone that 
the most sovereign means of calling out the best knowledge, 
and all the best thought, existing in Western Europe on any 
political subject, is a discussion in the British House of 
Commons. 

Sir Stafford Northcote, who was then Secretary of State for 
India, replied, in a very sensible and moderate speech, the 
material part of which is thus reported in Hansard :-t 

" H e  regretted as much as his hon. friend opposite did, that 
the hon. member for Frome (Sir Henry Rawlinson) had not had 
an opportunity for bringing forward the whole subject of the 
foreign policy ; but he was quite certain that the true policy was 
that which had been indicated-that we should abstain from any 
action which would provoke collision or would produce compli- 
cations on our frontier, and that we should take all the means in 
our power to develop our system of communication." 

Would that the wisdom of 1868 had guided the councils 
of 1878 ! 

* Lord Lawrence. .t. July 2jrth, 1868. 



Having made this prelinlinaryn~atterclear-having shewn that 
it was fro111 the Liberal, not the Cotrsenmtiz~e Gerlches that cnvle the 
first 1zot.e of warnitzg aboz~t the lZussian ad-dn~zce i l r  Central Asia, 
and having iuentioned the fact that aillongst the earliest official 
acts of the Duke of Argyll, as Secretary of State for India, was 
the appointment of a gentleman well-skilled in Russian to a 
position in the India Office, for the express purpose of keeping 
us acquainted with the most important publications which 
appeared in Russia, about Central Asian affairs, I will pass to 
consider the events wk~ich occurred in Afghanistan after the death 
of Dost Mahomed. 

Hardly had the old inan closed his eyes, than things took the 
course which they had taken through all past time in Afghanistan, 
that is to say, a dispute arose ainongst his sons with regard to 
the succession. Dost Mahomed, like a sensible man, had advised 
Sir John Lawrence, when he ruled the Punjiib, not to interfere 
in the inevitable contest between his children, but to let them 
fight it out among then~selves. At the same time he shewed 
where his own preference lay, by designating Shere Ali to be his 
successor. 

This was the policy which was followed during the Afghan 
civil war, alike by Lord Elgin, by Sir William Denison, who 
becanle Acting-Viceroy for a few weeks after Lord Elgin died, 
and by Sir John Lawrence when he returned to India as Viceroy. 
T h e  British Government took no part in the struggle, except to  
recognise pure matters of fact, when it was absolutely necessary 
so to do. Thus it recognised the fact that Shere Ali was designated 
as  his father's successor, and was therefore, until another of his 
coinpetitors proved to be stronger, and drove him away from his 
capital, to all intents and purposes Ameer of Afghanistan. When, 
however, that event occurred, it again recognised the obvious fact 
that not Shere Ali but another of his brothers was the actual, or, 
as it is called, the de facto ruler of Cabul and Candahar. 

At length, however, after many chances and changes 
it became clear that Shere Ali was the lnan whom the 
Afghan people wanted to be their king. H e  became 
once more what he had been just after his father's death, de facfo 
as  well as de jure ruler of Afghanistan, but although it was clear 
that he was the choice of the great nlajority of the Afghan people, 
it was equally clear that he would be a very weak ruler on accouut 
of his extreme poverty. If he was a very weak ruler rebellions 
would inevitably break out, and the whole country would be 
reduced before very long to hopeless anarchy. 

Sir John Lawrence said to himself, " If we had intervened while 
the result of the struggle in Dost Rlahomed's family was going 
on, we should not only have done exactly what Dost Mahomed, 
in spite of his preference for Shere Ali, asked me not to do, but 
we should inevitably have, in the long run, injured the cause 



-of that prince, because the illost powerful arnl which his enemies 
could have used against him would have been the fact that he 
,was the candidate of the hated infidels ; the candidate of the 
Government which, not much more than half a generation before, 
had  ravaged the Afghan country with fire and s\vord." 

Of course, from our  point of view, there was everything to be 
said for the avenging expedition of Pollock, but the invader and 
.the invaded never agree, and the Afghans naturally lookedat the 
matter in an altogether different way. However just we rnay 
have thought it to kill Afghan men, to burn Afghan villages, to 
cut  down the fruit trees, and to destroy everything we could lay 
our hands on in their country, they had the strange taste not to 
like it, and the fact that any prince was the candidate of the 
.people whom they most abhorred would have been quite fatal to 
his success. 

When, however, the fight had been fought out, when Shere 
Ali had been virtually elected by the Afghan people, Sir John 
Lawrence thought it right to give him just that amount of 
assistance, which if wisely used, would turn his weak into a 
strong and assured hold of the country, by enabling hinl to 
reward faithful service, to repress partial disturbances of the 
.peace, and, in short, to do the works of a wise Asiatic ruler, a wise 
ruler of barbarians. H e  took the assistance gladly, but grumbled 
because it had not been given hi111 long before. That, of course, 
was merely humail nature; every one ot us, I fancy, in Shere Ali's 
position would have done the same, and every cool-headed man 
in Sir John Lawrence's position, and with his perfect knowledge 
of the circumstances, would have done exactly what he did, not 
only in the interest of the British po~ver and good name, but in 
the interest of Shere -41i hinxelf. 

But some one may say, "You speak of the interest of the 
British power and good name; what bearing could anything that 
happened in Afghanistan have upon either the British good name 
or the British pourer ? "  That is a very fair question, and the 
answer to it is this. States ought to act as much as possible 
exactly as individuals act in society, and while all sensible 
individuals avoid mixing tllemselves up in the quarrels of their 
neighbours, the reputation of a peacemaker has always, and will 
always, be one ~rhich good men will desire to obtain, and which, 
when obtained, will add to their good name. But further, we all 
know that it is not an agreeable thing to have a burning house 
aext door to you, and while the civil war was raging in 
Afghanistan, Afghanistan was a burning house. If there is any- 
thing specially desirable in India, it is that the minds of the 
population, and more especially of the warlike portion of the 
population, should not be excited, and as long as every day 
*brought rumours down the passes, of bloody strife raging close t o  
she gates of India, their minds were sure to be excited. Further, 



as long as the civil war continued, there could be very little trade 
with Afghanistan, and as one of the objects of all wise rulers of 
India must be to keep as many trade gates open around India as 
possible, it was obviously desirable that the trade gates should 
not be closed by war along hundreds of illiles of our Western 
frontier. 

Was there not also, some one may say, a desire that 
Afghanistan should have that kind of connection with us 
which might make Russia, if she ever advanced as far as 
the River Oxus, careful not to attempt 'any hostile move against 
that country? I reply, "Of course there was." Sir John 
Lawrence was far too enlightened a statesinan not to have 
watched the Russian advance in Central Asia, and to  have 
considered its bearing upon our position in India; and on 
September 3rd, 1867, he, a Liberal Viceroy, suggested officially 
to a Conservative Governnlent that some understanding should 
be come to between the Foreign Offices of London and St. 
Petersburgh. * 

Still the Afghan policy of the year 1868 inust be considered 
by itself, and Sir John Lawrence would have had good reason for 
acting precisely as he did, if Russia had been still as far front 
India as she was a hundred years ago. His views received fulI 
support from Sir Stafford Northcote, and were carried into effect. 
Soon afterwards he left India and was succeeded by Lord Mayo, 
whose appointnlent to the Vice-royalty was one of the last acts of 
the Conservative Government, which fell in the end of 1868. 

The Duke of Argyll, who became Secretary of State for India 
under Mr. Gladstone, accepted to the fullest extent the Afghan 
policy which found favour with his predecessor, and during the 
whole of his long period of office never swerved froin it in the 
smallest particular. 

I t  had been the intention of Sir John Lawrence to have 
accepted the proposal of Shere Ali to come down to the plains of 
India, and pay him a visit. H e  left India, however, before this. 
could be managed ; but Lord Mayo took up the idea, and early 
in 1869 Shere Ali caille down from his hills, and was splendidly 
received at Umballa. While he mas there he took the oppor- 
tunity, very naturally, of trying to get froill the British Governnlent 
as much as he possibly could, We were rich-he was poor; we 
were powerful-he was weak ; and a great deal of consultation 
took place as to which of his demands could be properly complied 
with. H e  played, we may be sure, all his cards, including, no 
doubt, the card of the advance of Russia. H e  knew that there 
were many persons in India who lived, and others who affected 
to live, in a perpetual panic about Russia, and he thought, not 
unnaturally, that he might turn this panic-or prlnsi-panic-to his. 

* Afghan Papers, p. 21. 



own advantage. In this, however, he was mistaken. The higher per- 
sonages with whom he was brought in contact were not the victims 
of silly fears, nor did their interests incline thein to wish for trouble 
on the frontiers ; and he, or his subordinates, had to content 
themselves with such unofficial encouragement as they could get 
from observing that some of the secondary or tertiary personages 
with whom they came in contact fancied, or affected to fancy, 
that his poor little kingdoin might be made into a " bulwark " 
against Russia! What he must have thought of the bulwark 
theory may be gathered from a story which was told me by a 
gentleman who was present when the circumstance about to be 
related occurred. 

One day, after Shere Ali had seen a good deal of civilisation 
as it exists amongst the Anglo-Indian comnlunity in North- 
Western India, his attendants were jesting and laughing about 
our ways, when he lost patience and said, " I am inclined rather 
to  cry ihan to laugh. God has given me much. I am a king, 
I have an.army and a revenue, but H e  has denied me wisdom." 
Then turning to my informant, he added with a smile, " You will 
never see me like this again. Of everything you shew me I will 
say, ' I t  is nothing, it is nothing.' " 

One of the things most dear to the hearts of the people about 
the Vice-regal Court who shared the views of the Kussophobes, 
or Russo-cowards as we may call them in the vernacular, was to 
have European Agents at various points of Afghanistan, and there 
would have been much to be said for this, if those Agents could 
have been used merely for the purpose of getting good information 
about Central Asia with a view to the advancement of civilisation 
and friendly intercourse, and if the idea had been agreeable to the 
Afghans. Unhappily, however, it would have been very difficult 
to have restricted Europeans in Afghanistan to the functions of 
simple reporters, and leven if that difficulty could have been 
surnlounted,'the repugnance of the Afghans to the idea was so 
intense that it was perfectly out of the question. The Vice-regal 
subordinates, when they pressed it, were met with civil speeches of 
which they tried in after years to nlake as much as they could, 
when it was the object of those who had the bestowal of patronage 
to support tile theory that Shere Ali had consented at Umballa to 
receive European Agents in Afghanistan, but the controversy was 
set at rest, first by the positive evidence of Mr. Seton Karr, a 
strong Conservative, who was Foreign Secretary to the Government 
of India at the time of the Umballa interview, and who asserts 
most positively that Shere Ali and his people would not tole?-ate 
the idea of having European Agents in Afghanistan. That ought 
to have been enough, for through Mr. Seton Karr went all the 
official communications of any real importance which passed at 
the Umballa interview; but a letter from Lord Mayo to the 
Duke of Argyll, dated June 3rd, 1869, was absolutely conclusive 



a n d  final, for Lord Mayo wrote, ' L  The only pledges given were 
that we \vould not interfere in his affairs, that we rvould support 
his independence, thnt 70e 7iloltld ?rot f01-ce Eclrujenn oficers lcpott 

hi/ll, " 
Of co~trse, as 7ews obserzled ill the AAhrrlr debaft of Dccet/lber, 

i 878, nly  olle 70ho re-ojelts this qr~estiu~~ si//$bj ass~rts thnt Lord 
Marlo deliberntely deceizlcd his oficicll chief; n srros~ nlrd milked 
zibd I Q O ~  n hzkh-~t~it~ded gtrrtlellrnn 70h0 i~ ?LO lolrsrev nhle to 
deftell d /l iltrseZJ 

The policy of hIr. Gladstone's Governn~ent with regard to 
Afghanistan was a wise and generous one. No silly attenlpts to aim 
a blow at Russia over the shield of the Ailleer found favour with 
it. IVhen it had anything to say to Russia it said it, as all English 
Governnlents should, boldly and openly, not at Cabul but at St. 
Petersburgh. 

Had it then anything to say at St. Petersburgh in 1869? Most 
certainly it had, for the Duke of Argyll lost no time in acting 
upon the suggestion whicll the LibernZ Viceroy, Sir John 
Lawrence, had made in I 867, apparently without much effect, to 
the Consem~ative Secretary of State, Sir Stafford Northcote, that 
some definite arrangenlent should be come to between England 
and Russia about Central Asian affairs. All through the spring 
negotiations went on, and as early as the 7th of March, Russia 
disclaimed any intention of intervention or interference whatever 
opposed to the itrdebendence of Akhanistalz. * 

I n  the course of the autumn, the general and inchoate good 
understanding which had been arrived at, led to a further dis- 
.cussion of details, which developed, as \\?ill be seen solnewhat 
later, into a perfect agreement, and even before the Session closed, 
Mr. Gladstone's Government 7 e ~ s  able to do mhat their predeces- 
sors had ?rot done, thnt is, t o  stnte f u lh  their views as to their 
political nttitrrde n like fo7elards A f ~ h n n  istnn nlzd to7elards Russia zit 
Central Asin. f- 

And now let us look back from the Thamcs and the Neva, and 
see what was passing in the East, 

Returned to his own dominions the Afghan monarch set to work 
toconsolidate his power, with the help of the llloney and arins which 
he had received from the British. H e  had been disappointed to a 
certain extent, for he dreamed dreams that we should give him a 
dynastic guarantee and much else, that, in fact, we should become 
responsible for keeping hiin on the throne of Afghanistan, without 
having the slightest power to oblige hi111 to rule wisely and well. 
>On the whole, however, he was in pretty good humour, and 
he continued to be so until the impression made by his splendid 
reception, and by the kindness which had been shewn him 
began to wear OK - - - -  - - - - ---- -- 

* Afghan Papers, p. 104. t I-Iansard for July gth, 1869. 



After the murder of Lord Mayo he wrote the following lttter to 
the Acting-Viceroy, Lord Napier and Ettrick :- 

"After expressions of sorrow and affliction, be it known to your 
friendly heart that I have just been shocked to hear the terrible 
and illournful tidings of the death of the Viceroy and Governor- 
General of India. 

'. By this terrible and unforeseen stroke my heart has been 
overwhelnled with grief and anguish, for it can scarce own again, 
in days so out of joint as these, that the world \rill see another so 
universally beloved and esteemed for hi.s many high and excellent 
qualities as hiin who is XIOW in the spirit-land. 

" All great and wise men have ever regarded this transitory 
~vorld as a resting place for a single night, or as an overflowing 
and changing stream, and have never ceased to remind their 
fellows that they inust pass beyond it and leave all behind them. 
I t  is, therefore, incutnbent on nlen not to fix their affections on 
perishable things during the course of their short lives, ~vhich are, 
as it were, a loan to then1 from above. 

Naught relnains to the friends and survivors of him who is 
gone from anlong us but patience and resignation. 

" The unvarying friendship and kindness displayed towards me 
by him, who is now no more, had induced me to determine, if 
the affairs of Afghanistan at the time perlnitted the step, to 
accompany His Excellency on his return to England, so that I 
inight obtain the gratification of a personal interview with Her 
Majesty the Queen, and derive pleasure from travelling in the 
countries of Europe. Before the eternally predestined decrees, 
however, men must bow in silence. 

"A crooked and perverse fate always interferes to prevent the 
successful attainment, by any human being, of his most cherished 
desires. What more can be said or written to express my grief 
and sorrow ? " 

Shortly after this letter was received, Lord Northbrook 
succeeded Lord Mayo in his high office, and carried on precisely 
the same policy. Gradually, however, the impression that had 
been made on the mind of Shere Ali began to fade. Internal 
difficulties worried him, difficulties froin which the dynastic 
guarantee, which he had desired, ~lould, he thought, have 
delivered him. We gave a decision in accordance with what 
appeared to us right and justice in a dispute between him and 
another of our allies, the Persian Government, which had been 
referred to us as arbitrators, whereas he, intelligibly enough, 
would have liked us to make things pleasant for him, with or 
without the assent of our consciences. 

Meanwhile the Russians had, as all conq)etent observers knew 
they must, been moving still further south, over those regions of 
Central Asia which lay nearest to Shere Ali's outlying dependencies; 
and he became, perhaps, really a little afraid that they might give 



him trouble. Perhaps they 7e~ottZd hnzle done so if Mr. Ghdstone's 
Cabilzef had ?tot itlterfered. It did so, howezler, and the fact 
that it was deterr~rif~ed to z@hold the Anrcer's i~rdepende~rce 7cws 
made jnterzf to all the civilised 72lorld by its insisting that 
Afghanistan ? I ~ Z L S ~  be zirzderstood to mean all the vast territories 
actually in his possession, and not ?irerely AfS/lanistan propel: 
I t  was important to the Russians to make Afghanistan mean 
as little as possib?e, because they had bound themselves, as 
we have seen, to respect the independence of Afghanistan, while 
it was important to us to extend its meaning as widely as possible; 
because, although rejecting with scorn the idea that the mighty 
Empire of India required any bulwark, except what our own 
strength could supply, we thought it extremely desirable in the 
interest alike of England, and of Russia that there should be as 
broad a belt of territory as possible between Muscovite and 
British Asia. 

The Russians struggled for their own view as hard as they 
could ; but at length when they saw that we were right, and meant 
to  have our own way, they gave up the contest, and admitted 
everything for which we contended.* 

Soon after this took place the Russian expedition to Khiva. 
Neither the Ameer nor we had the slightest right to object to that 
expedition. I t  had nothing to do  with either of us. The  
Russians had very serious grievances against the Khan. Everyone 
who knew the A. B. C. of Central Asian politics knew that he 
must be punished sooner or later, and the only thing that created 
surprise was that the resistance made was not more serious. 

A military fact, however, always seems more in:portant to 
barbarians, whether in turbans or round hats, than does a 
diplomatic one, and so it is quite possible that the advance 
against Khiva, which did not affect him at all, though it occurred 
in his neighbourhood, frightened the Ameer more than our 
arrangement with Russia reassured him, though this last was the 
very Magna Charta of his independence. 

After some correspondence, it was arranged that a confidential 
envoy should come down from Cabul and see the Viceroy at 
Simla ; this was done and the general result of what passed is so  
well summed up in two paragraphs, one from a letter which Lord 
Northbrook subsequently wrote to the Ameer, and another froin a 
document sent with it, that I will quote them. 

Here is the first :- 
"The result of the comn~unications between the British and 

the Russian Governments has been, in my opinion, materially to 
strengthen the position of Afghanistan, and to remove the 
apprehension of dangers from without. The boundaries OJ jto;llr 
Nlg/rness' do?nin kns, fo 70hich the letters refer, hazle now been definitely 

* Afghan Papers, p. 105. 



settled in a tnnnntr which p~ecludes atzy re-opening of the matiers by 
Bokhara or any other Power, OY any furllier question o r  discussion 

the szclijcct between your U$hv~ess and ~ l o t t r  n r ~ h b o u r s  in those 
quarters. T o  this settlement the British Gove?-t/t~~en/ are a pa r/y,  
nlzd they are consequently even more interested than bc/are in the 
~lraintenarrcc of the i ~ t c g r i i y  of y o ~ ~ r U r ~ h n e s s ' f r o n f i c r .  I have 
had some conversation with your Envoy on the subject of the 
policy which the British Government would pursue in the event of 
an  attack upon your Highness' territories. A copy of the record 
of these conversations is attached to this letter." * 

And here is the second :- 
Should the Ameer be threatened, L L  and the endeavours of the 

British Government to bring about an amicable settlement prove 
fruitless, the British Government are prepared to assure the 
Ameer that they will afford him assistance in the shape of arjlrs 
a n d  money, and will also, in case of necessity, aid hitlt 7edh troops. 
T h e  British Government holds itself perfectly free to decide as to 
the occasion when such assistance should be rendered, and also 
as  to its nature and extent; moreover, the assistance will be 
~onditiona l upon the Anzeer ilift~self abstain ingfrotrr aggression, and 
olz his unresemed acceptance of the adzlice of the B ~ i t i s h  Govcrn- 
?]rent ilz regard to his exter~zal relatio~zs." t 

The Ameer, in short, received every assurance of protection 
against external foes, that he could receive short of an uncondi- 
tional guarantee, the giving of which would have been the signal 
for him to becollle an aggressor certainly against his neighbours 
of Persia, and very likely against his neighbours beyond the 
Oxus into the bargain. The promises he received irould have 
been enough, and more than enough, for any reasonable man ; 
but Shere Ali was not a reasonable man. H e  was a illoody 
barbarian, subject to occasioilal fits of insanity, and with a good 
deal of the curming which often accoil~panies unsoundness of 
mind. When he was trying, through his Envoy, to make Lord 
Northbrook go not only beyond the pronlises made by Lord 
Rfayo at Umballa, but beyond the obligations which resulted from 
our arrangement with Russia, he was thinking, I do not doubt, 
much more about internal than about external affairs-about an 
absolute dynastic than about an absolute external guarantee. As 
t o  danger from Russia at least, we know that he was thoroughly 
reassured by the Sin& Conference. 

Lord Northbrook held to the views contained in the paragraphs 
which I have just quoted, and Shere Ali shewed his disappoint- 
ment at not having obtained all he wished, exactly as might have 
been expected. H e  behaved well enough in essential matters, 
knowing that the British Government would not be trifled with, 
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but he allowed it to perceive that he was cross by little failures in 
courtesy. 

All this, however, was not very important. Diplomacy exists 
for the purpose of smoothing away difficulties of this kind, and if 
the Duke of Argyll had remained at the India Office, and Lord 
Northbrook at Calcutta, Shere Ali would gradually have been won 
back into perfect good humour. 

If the Liberals had remained in power we should, in all 
probability, never have had any difficulties with Russia about the 
Eastern Question. All would have been arranged in the autumn 
of 1876, by wise and firm diplomatic action. Supposing, however, 
that by some miracle this had not been so, and that Russia had 
tried by giving us trouble in Asia to put a pressure upon us in 
Europe ; had tried, for example, to force us into some unfair 
concessions about Constantinople or the Dardanelles, what would 
Lord Northbrook, or any other Liberal Viceroy, have done ? 
Why, of course, he would have taken up the negotiations with the 
Ameer precisely where they were left at Simla. H e  would have 
said, L L  NOW the contingency has arisen which we talked about at  
Simla. 'I'he Russians may possibly give you some trouble ; we 
will make again with you a treaty exactly on the lines of that 
which we made with your father in January, 1857, when we  
quarrelled with Persia. We shall pay you a large s u ~ n  every month 
until peace is made between the British and Russian Governments ; 
British officers will, as in 1857, see to the application of the money ; 
and we will, if you like, also aid you with troops to any extent you 
please. But when the subsidy ceases, and the war is at an end, 
every single British officer and all our troops shall be withdrawn 
froin your country. We shall still keep a native gentleman as our  
representative at your Court, but no European officer shall, on any 
account whatever, be forced upon you, for we know perfectly well 
that there is nothing you would dislike so much." That is the 
way in which the Liberals would have met any attempt at making 
mischief in Asia on the part of Russia, if Russia had ever been on 
the point of going to war with us. 

The Envoy of the Anleer who came to Simla had, however, no 
power to enter into any definite airangement about the $09-iicular 
7,reosl~?-es to be adopted in case the Ameer was, without any blaine 
on his part, threatened by any of his neighbours, and that being so, 
further conversation about them was postponed until they could 
be discussed between the Viceroy and the Ameer in person.* 

The projected interview unfortunately never took place. That 
it would have had the best effect, and have revived all the feelings 
which the Anleer had at the time of the Umballa meeting, cannot 
be doubted; but iminediately afterwards the Government of 
India was plunged into all the anxieties of the terrible Bengcll 
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Famine, Shere Ali had serious internal troubles to attend to, and 
long ere the Viceroy and he were again free to think of a meeting, 
an event had occurred in Europe which entirely altered the state 
of affairs on the North-West frontier of India. 

That event was the fall of the Gladstone Administration. I t  
was brought about, as we all know, chiefly by two causes, first, by 
a coinbination of angry interests, secondly, by want of proper 
organisation and by inaction on the part of the JJil>erals. Of 
reaction in the proper sense there was very little ; that is to say, 
very few people really dreamt of going back upon anything that 
had been done, of re-establishing the Irish Church, or re-intro- 
ducing purchase in the army, or abolishing national education,. 
or repealing any considerable portion of the police regulations 
which had been applied by the previous Parliament to public- 
houses in the interests of order and decency. There was,, 
however, just enough of feeling in certain classes that * the 
previous Government had attended too little to foreign affairs to 
make the astute party leader who was at the head of the new 
Administration see that somethirlg was to be done by fussing a 
little about a " spirited foreign policy," and encouraging his 
subordinates to do the same, provided it could be done without 
getting the Government into a scrape. At first, however, it is 
only fair to say that the chief idea of the new Government was to 
do  as little as possible. They thought, and thought rightly, that the 
country mas in an apathetic frnn~e of mind, and that " he lives 
well, who has well lain hidden " was the best motto for them to 
adopt. This kind of thing went on for about a year, but at last, 
in the beginning of 1875, it seems to have occurred to Lord 
Salisbury, the Secretary of State for India, that there was n chance 
of doing a little bit of spirited foreign policy without getting the 
Governlnent into any scrape at all, and in an evil hour, on the 
eand of January, 1875,t he sent a despatch to Lord Northbrook 
directing hiin to re-open the question of sending European officers 
to reside in Afghanistan. Lord Salisbury, it is as likely as not, 
did not know when he signed this despatch what a very grave step 
he was taking, for his knowledge of Indian affairs or of foreign 
affairs, at that time was extremely moderate. H e  had not been, 
I think,t\vo years at the India Office altogether, even including 
his first brief sojourn there under a previous Administration, 
and, when he was there before, questions relating to the North- 
West frontier were not very prominent. \\'hen the despatch 
reached India, it found the Viceroy and his Council far 
better prepared than their official superior for the discussion 

* As n matter of fact it hat1 attended to them with excellent results ; but,. 
unhappily for itself, it had forgotten the maxim, " Do well and see that 
your deecls are scnr." 

t Afghan Papers, p. 128. 



s f  the question which it raised. Lord Northbrook had been 
sent out zcr~der MY. Ghdstone's Adt~rinistration, the j r s t ,  as I 
have ~lrentiorred, 7cdiich hnd ~ l r  i r ~  utely stzdied the Russo-I~r dian 
Questian, or ex-resscd its vie7t.l~ about it very fuILly in PnvZian~elrt. 
Lord Northbrook's opinions on the subject were entirely those 
of his late chief, the Duke of Argyll, and as soon as the despatch 
reached him he saw that Lord Salisbury, perhaps without quite 
realising what he was about, had taken a step which might have 
the very gravest consequences. 

This may be the place to mention that one or two circum- 
stances occurred subsequent to the Simla Conference which did 
not improve the temper of the Ameer. One of these was a friendly 
renlonstrance which had been made by Lord Northbrook in favour 
of mercy to the Ameer's son, Yakoob Khan, whom his father had 
got into his power, and whom it was supposed he meant to put to 
death. Lord Northbrook could not have avoided making this 
remonstrance, because just and illerciful rule * in his own 
doillinions was one of the points on which we insisted at 
Umballa, as a condition precedent to Shere Ali's receiving any 
.aid froin the British. But the Ameer bitterly hated his son, and 
did not like the interference. There was, too, a little slip for 
which the Government of India apologised, the sending directly 
instead of through the Aineer certain presents to one of his 
feudatory chiefs. Then there were frequent articles and other 
publications proceeding froill the Russophobe school of Anglo- 
Indian politicians, which found their way to Cabul and disquieted 
the mind of its ruler, and there was the book of Sir Henry 
Rawlinson, " England and Russia in the East," which einanating 
as it did from an important nlenlber of the Indian Council in 
constant conlnlunication with Lord Salisbury, the Secretary of 
State, might well have shaken Inore steady nerves than those of 
the Afghan monarch. 

But to return to Lord Salisbury's despatch of January, 1875. 
The Viceroy of India is so great a personage and so much 

.attention is paid to the maxim, " India should be governed in 
India," that few people keep sufficiently in their minds the fact that 
he is, after all, only a very high-placed and magnificent subordinate 
&of the Secretary of State, liable to be proceeded against cri~llinally 
i f  he wilfully disobeys his orders. H e  must obey, but at the same 
time it is his duty, if he thinks that any instructions given to him 
.are likely to be dangerous, to state his views and those of his 
Council fully and frankly to the authorities at home. 

Lord Northbrook, accordingly, on the receipt of Lord Salis- 
'bury's most dangerous despatch, imn~ediately telegraphed to ask 
whether the order was peremptory, or whether some delay would 
be allowed. Lord Salisbury replied that some delay would be 
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allowed. Lord Northbrook then summoned his Council and laid 
the matter before them. The result was a despatch giving it as 
their unanimous opinion that the course suggested by Lord 
Salisbury was one which might involve the Empire in the most 
perilous complications. Lord Salisbury received this most solemn 
and authoritative warning in the summer of I 875, and what course 
did he adopt? Did he, like Lord Northbrook, summon his 
Council, the body of Indian experts who . are appointed by law 
to assist the Secretary of State in governing the great Empire in 
which inost ,of them have spent their lives? Not a bit of it. 
It cannot be too distinctly impressed on the mind of the public that 
the Indian Council in this country is in no sort of w a y  responsible 

for  the critnes and follies of the last tzlo years. Lord Salisbury 
exercised a power which he possessed under the Government of 
India Act, and gave the go-by to his Council. He replied to 
Lord Northbrook on his own responsibility, and ordered him to 
carry into effect the instructions contained in his despatch of 
January. In his reply there occurred the following most significant 
passage : b t  The first step, therefore, in establishing our relations 
with the Ameer upon a more satisfactory footing, will be to induce 
him to receive a temporary embassy in his capital. I t  need not 
be publicly connected with the establishment of a permanent 
mission within his dominions. There would be many advantages 
in ostensibly directing it to some object of smaller political interest, 
which it will not be difficult for your Excellency to find, or, If need 
be, fo creak. "* 

On receipt of this despatch Lord Northbrook lost no time in 
taking steps to carry the orders he had received into effect. In 
the course of doing so it became clear not only that all the 
principal officers who, as being specially charged with our 
relations with Afghanistan, had to be consulted as to details, 
agreed entirely with Lord Northbrook and his Council in believing 
that the proposed step, dangerous under any circumstances, could 
hardly be made at a more unlucky moment, but also that Lord 
Salisbury had so imperfectly thought out his silly policy that he 
had neglected to give any orders as to some points with regard to 
which positive instructions must in the nature of things be given 
to the envoy who was to be sent to Cabul. The Secretary of 
State for India had even carried his carelessness so far that he 
had not observed that he had not given the authorisation required 
by law to the Indian Government to enter into an unconditional 
guarantee of the Ameer's territory, which guarantee would as a 
matter of course be given if we went one step beyond the arrange- 
ments which, as I have already explained, were made at Simla 
in 1873.t 

Lord Northbrook and his Council wrote accordingly to ask for 
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precise instructions as to the matters which Lord Salisbury had 
slulred over or forgotten, and took the opportunity of respectfully 
pointing out to the Secretary of State that if a mission was really 
to be sent to Cabul the honest course would also be the wise one, 
and that the Ameer was quite sharp enough to understand that 
only matters of grave political importance could induce the 
British Government to send a special mission to Cabul, and that 
if it were osfettsib& directed to objects of minor political importance 
the Anleer would be simply incredulous. 

The last words of the despatch are these-words to which the 
events of the last four years have given terrible significance :- 
" We are convinced that a patient adherence to the policy adopted 
towards Afghanistan by Lord Canning, Lord Lawrence, and Lord 
Mayo, which it has been our earnest endeavour to maintain, 
presents the greatest promise of the eventual establishment of our 
relations with the Anleer on a satisfactory footing; nnd we 
deprecate, as involuing serious danger to the peace of Afghanistan 
and to the interests of the British Enzjire in India, the execz~tion, 
zuzder present circumsta nces, of the ins fructions conzleyed in your 
Zordshz;a's despatch." * 

The signature of this prophetic State paper was one of the 
last of Lord Northbrook's official acts in India, for a new Viceroy 
had been appointed to succeed him some time before it was 
signed. 

The choice of the Conservative Government had fallen upon 
Lord Lytton, whose disastrous connection with one of the blackest 
and most dishonourable pages of our Indian history must not 
blind us to his many gifts and merits. When, however, Lord 
Lytton was appointed Viceroy of India, he would have been the 
first to have disclaimed any acquaintance with the circumstances, 
or with the needs of that country. If we remember that his 
father was a friend of the Prime Minister's, and that he 
himself was a near neighbour, as well as the most prominent 
Conservative ally of Lord Salisbury's in Hertfordshire, that he 
was a man in whom imagination was strong, and that a little 
spirited foreign policy at a cheap rate was what Lords Beaconsfield 
and Salisbury desired, the choice is sufficiently intelligible. I t  
was a choice which many people not in the secret of these noble- 
men's views did not disapprove, for they had good reason to 
believe that Lord Lytton would work hard, and also that he did 
not entertain any illusions about our North-West frontier. I t  is 
only just to all parties to affirm and re-affirm that the policy which 
he has carried into effect was not initiated by him but by 
others. 

Many and difficult were the questions with regard to internal 
administration which awaited Lord Lytton, as they await all 
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Viceroys when they land in India ; but to frontier questions he 
need have devoted very little time. There were some troubles in 
Khelat of no great account, and the Ameer of Cabul, as we have 
seen, was a little out of humour; but, to use the words of that 
monarch's own Prime Minister, Lord Northbrook had fhoroz~K/rZy 
reassured him abouf any infcvfere~zce fvotlt Russia,* and Lord 
Northbrook lej/ the friendshz2 zeiz'h Afghaniston 7uithouf cha?tge.t 

But no cheap glory was to be obtained out of merely governing 
240 inillions of Inen in a quiet, humdrum way. Something 
was wanted that could be used among the rowdier elements in 
the constituencies-something in the spread eagle line. 

" Before all things, pluck," said a great authority,  luck 
is the order of the day ! " 

Armed accordingly with instructions, which were a 
masterpiece in their kind, carefully pointing out as they 
did how the new Viceroy should appear to give more and 
stronger assurances to the Ameer than Lord Northbrook had done, 
without really doing so, while directing him at the same time to 
press the fatal demand for the stationing of British officers in 
Afghanistan, Lord Lytton went to India and immediately set to 
work to carry his orders into effect. At what period he became a 
willing instrunlent of the evil policy of his chief I do not know. 
Perhaps it was before, perhaps after the instructions were drawn 
up. Ere long he became, I fear, not only a willing but an eager 
Instrument. Nothing, however, turns upon that, except the personal 
judgment which is to be formed of Lord Lytton. In  the course of 
carrying his instructions into effect he met with the strongest opposi- 
tion from the three ablest members of his Council, Sir Henry 
Norman, Sir William Muir, and Sir Arthur Hobhouse. There is an 
awkward allegation that measures were taken for the express purpose 
of preventing these high officials exercising their legal right of 
recording formal minutes of dissent; but this again is rather a 
matter for persons who are interested in discussing the character 
of the Viceroy. All such side issues had better be passed by and 
attention concentrated upon the main action. I t  would be tedious 
t o  go into the details of the negotiation between the Viceroy and 
the Ameer. They can be read amongst the Afghan papers, or in 
the book called the l1 Causes of the Afghan War," published about 
a year ago.1 Suffice it to say that as early as the month of 
October, 1876, the Viceroy had become, or appeared to have 
become, very much irritated against the Anleer, and delivered an 
.address to our Native Agent at Cabul, Atta Mahomed Khan, 
which contained the most insulting and altogether undiplomatic 
expressions; which expressions, however, the Agent was directed 
.to convey faithfully to the Ameer ! 5 
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This he proceeded to do. The Ameer, much alarmed both 
by the Viceroy's language and by several military inoveillents 
which were made about this time, and which had to hiin all the 
appearance of being directed against him, appears to have thought 
that admitting British officers night be a less evil than a war, and 
our Native Agent wrote in December, 1876, froin Cabul, to say 
that the Ameer would agree to admit them, if our Government 
held to its views after hearing, at a conference to be held between 
his Priine Minister and a person representing the Viceroy, the 
objections which he had to urge. That conference took place at 
the frontier city of Peshawur, early in 1877, and the representative 
of the Viceroy, Sir Lewis Pelly, pressed very strongly the admission 
of British officers into Afghanistan as a $reliminary to all discussion. 
His instructions, said Sir Lewis, were categorical, and he had 
no discretionary powers as to that matter. What the Prinle 
Minister of the Ameer thought about it can best be gathered, 
perhaps, from some remarks which he made in conversation with 
a friend, on February 7th :- 

" 'It is a very serious business, and this is the last time that the 
Ameer will treat with the British Government. God grant that the 
issue be favourable. But you must not impose upon us a burden 
which we cannot bear, and if you overload us, the responsibility 
rests with you.' * 

"I interposed here, and asked the Cabul Envoy what the burden 
was to which he alluded. H e  at once replied, ' The residence of 
British officers on the frontiers of Afghanistan.' H e  then went 
on with some warmth and excitement to enlarge upon the 
objections of the Afghan people to the presence of foreigners in 
their territories, and upon the difficulty the Ameer would 
experience in protecting them from insult and injury, in the event 
of his acceding to the condition of their residence in his country." 

Again he observed to Sir Lewis Pelly (Afghan Papers, p. 208), 
in the conversation of February 12tl1, 1877 :- 

" I  beg the favour of your consideration of the true facts of 
the state of affairs in Afghanistan with justice and impartiality. 
The condition of the Afghan people is perfectly well known to the 
authorities of the English Government. There is no need, there- 
fore, for a detailed mention of them. I will only allude to some 
of thein briefly. 

" In the first place, the people of Afghanistan have a dread of 
this proposal, and it is firmly fixed in their minds, and deeply 
rooted in their hearts, that, if Englishmen or other Europeans once 
set foot in their country, it will sooner or later pass out of their 
hands. In  no way can they be re-assured on this point, and it is 
impossible to remove these opinions from their minds, for they 
adduce many proofs in support of them, the mention of which now 
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would greatly prolong this discussion. Thereforc, since the 
opinions of the people of Afghanistan are such, the protection 
of the Englishmen in the midst of those hills is difficult, nay, 
in~possible, because the whole army and the subjccts of the 
Government are of these mountain people. " And further (Afghan 
Papers, 13. 2 I 2) :-" As to what was said in reference to the 
external danger, I beg to observe that danger is of two kinds, 
internal and external ; the internal danger, owing to the residence 
of English officers on the frontier, is apparent, and admits of no 
doubt. Matters would fall out in accordance with my description 
of the state of affairs in Afghanistan in the conference of the I nth 
of February. Therefore, consider what will be the beginning and 
what the end of such a measure. As to external danger, as I have 
already shewn to-day, I do not entertain its probability." 

All through the discussions with Sir Lewis Pelly, the Prime 
Minister held to this point. At length, on the 19th of 
'February, Sir Lewis Pelly said, that as the preliminary condition 
was declined, the conference could not proceed, and it was agreed 
-that the matter should be referred to the Viceroy for his orders. 
This was done. The Viceroy's answer came and was transmitted 
r o  the Prime Minister of the Ameer on the 1 5 t h ~  of March. I t  
announced that the British Government repudiated all liabilities 
on behalf of the Ameer, and denied the obligations under which 
previous Viceroys had come to him. By this time, however, the 
poor man had become dangerously ill, and on the 29th of March 
he died. The Ameer then proposed to send another high officer 
.to continue the conference, but on March 30th the Viceroy 
telegraphed to Sir Lewis Pelly as follows :- 

'' Close conference immediately, on ground that basis on which 
we agreed to negotiate has not been acknowledged by Anleer; 
-that, Mir Akhor not being authorised to negotiate on that basis, 
nor you on any other, conference is terminated $so facto ; and 
-that you will leave Peshawur on a stated day. The date of it you 
will fix yourself, but it should be as early as conveniently 
possible, in order to shew we are in earnest, and avoid further 
entanglement." t 

On the 20th of April, thirty-six days, as will be observed, after 
Sir Lewis Pelly's letter to the Prime Minister of the Anleer, a 
member of the Opposition asked the representative of the Indian 
Government in the House of Conlmons whether any change had 
recently taken place in the relations of the Government of India 
with Afghanistan. Lord George Hamilton replied, " I have to say 
thaf no change whatever has occurred in the rclatiotrs between the 
Bn'rish Governmen f and the Atneev of Afghatristatt !" f 

The same member further, on the same occasion, asked Lord 
- 
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George Hnnlilton if the negotiations with the Aineer had entirely 
ceased, and Lord George replied, " I believe that the Anleer has 
expressed a wish to carry on negotiations, alzd that the ?,ratter is 
urtdcr the corzsidcrafion of f ie  Governnzent of lirdia." The Secretary 
of State for India must surely have known that the negotiations 
had been broken off on the 30th of AIIarch ! 

Again, on the I rth of June, Lord George Hamilton, in reply 
to Sir Charles Dilke, said, 'L N o  change in our obZigntio?zs to the 
A~zeer  IS been the resz~lt of the conference, but it mould not be 
consistent with the interests of the public service to publish the 
conversation." 

I t  inust surely have been within the knowledge of the 
Secretary of State for India that when Lord George Hamilton, in 
his representation, made use of these words, the British Government 
had repudiated all liabilities on the part of the Aineer and his 
dynasty, and had cried off from all the promises hitherto inade to 
him, pronlises which those who had made them, the Duke of 
Argyll, Lord Northbrook, and others, considered to be obligations 
of the most binding character. 

The next step, after closing the negotiations at Peshawur, was 
to withdraw our Native Agent fro111 Cabul, or rather not to allow 
him to return thither, or in other words to break off diplomatic 
relations with the Ameer. Breaking off diplomatic relations when 
combined with such language as Lord Lytton, with apparently the 
fill approval of Lord Salisbury, held to the Ameer, is usually the 
preliminary to war, and Lord Salisbury, writing in October, I 87 7, 
speaks of the Anleer as maintaining an attitude of isolation and 
scarcely veiled hostility.* The relations between England and 
Afghanistan, in the summer of 1877, may accordingly be con- 
sidered to have been as '' stretched " as they well could be without 
actually breaking. In  other words, we were drifting into war. 

I t  did not, however, suit the purpose of the Government to. 
take Parliament into its confidence about this important matter. 
I t  was anxious to develop, unimpeded by criticism, the marvel- 
lous policy which it had for two years been carrying on. How 
far such conduct is in accordance with the spirit of the British 
Constitution as hitherto understood, I will not stop to inquire 
but I should have thought that no one, however little he may 
admire Parliamentary institutions, can think it right for a Minister 
to  come down to Parliament and make statements apparently for 
the express purpose of deceiving his questioners, and of giving 
altogether incorrect impressions to the country as to what is going 
on with regard to matters of immense and vital importance. Yet 
that is what was done by the present Government. 

On June 15th~ 1877, the Duke of Argyll called attention to 
the very disquieting rumours which had been coming for many 
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weeks from the North-West frontier of India. He remark& 
amongst other things, that it was said that, " Alarmed by diplo- 
matic demands and military arrangements, the mind of the Ameer 
was thoroughly unsettled ; that he was in a state of agitation and 
anger, and was collecting troops to resist aggression, or perhaps to 
make an aggressive movement upon India. The Ameer of 
Afghanistan was not, perhaps, a great power; but another Afghan 
war would be, he need hardly say, a very serious matter. I t  
would cost several millions of money, and it would, in any event'be 
a great misfortune if our good understanding with the Ameer were 
seriously disturbed. I t  was important that the noble Marquis should 
have an opportunity of giving their Lordships'House and the country 
an assurance that he did not contetlrplate any serious change in the 
podicy heretofie pursued towards A fghanista ; and, above all, thnt 
he desired fo continue a t  all events that frkndZy but watchful cot/t.se 
of conduct which he believed was fhe only safe course to adopt in orlv 
relations with such a sovere&n as the Anzeer." 

T o  these remarks Lord Salisbury, the Secretary of State for 
India, replied, and this is the conclusion of his speech :- 

'' I only wish emphatically to repeat that none of those 
suspicions of aggression on the part of the English Government 
have any true foundation ; that our desire in the future, as it has 
been in the past, is to respect the Afghan ruler, and to maintain as 
far as we can the integrity of his dominions. There is no gro~cttd 
for any of the npprehensions to which thu noble Duke has referred, 
or for suspicions zjhich are too absurd to be seriousZy entertained. 
The affairs of the frontier are maintaining a peaceful aspect, with 
the exception of a little trouble with a local tribe-the Afreedees. 
We have also maintained our relations with Khelat, and the 
papers we have laid on the table will explain what has occurred. 
But there is no reason for any apprehnsiotz of any change ofpolicy 
or  of disturbance in our Indian Empire." * 

I t  would be difficult to use clearer language, and Lord North- 
brook would have been wanting in courtesy if he had not frankly 
accepted the Secretary of State's assurances, which he did in the 
following words :- 

d d  The policy we have pursued with regard to the Ameer has 
been to shew him that we desired to assist him with our advice 
whenever he requires it, and not to press upon him the presence 
of British officers in his territory unless he really desires that they 
should go there, and will give them a welcome. I feel satisfied 
that if that policy is deliberately adhered to now, as it has been 
for many years, whatever difficulties may have arisen for the time 
being, and whatever suspicions may be entertained by the Ameer- 
from what cause I, not being acquainted with the facts, will not 
inquire-will disappear, and that the Ameer will soon see that his 
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suspicions have no foundation, and will look upon us as every 
sensible man in his position must-as his best friends, and as those 
to whom, in certain circumstances, he will have to apply for 
assistance. It  is with great satisfaction, therefore, that I have 
heard the assurance of the noble Marquis that the policy I have 
referred to Her Majesty's Government will continue to pursue. 
I am satisjed that he has given us thnt assurance 2 j ~  perfect good 
faith, and thnt 7ue may trz~sf hivt to resist any nite?ltpt to  ju t  it 
aside. " 

After a few words from Lord Halifax, which are not reported, 
Lord Salisbury again rose, but confined his remarks entirely to an 
incidental matter, thereby of course acceptir~z the inter-retation 
put by Lord Northbrook on his words nbout the ?~taiz subject of 
the conversation. 

I pass now to the Quetta episode. From the very commence- 
ment of the Session of 1 8 7 7 , ~  great efforts had been made in the 
House of Commons to obtain information as to what the Govern- 
ment was doing in the State of Khelat, a district which lies to the 
south of Afghanistan, and more especially as to whether it was 
intended to occupy Quetta The reason why the Opposition was 
anxious to have this question answered, was that the occupation 
of Quetta had for long been the step which was most loudly 
urged by those Anglo-Indian politicians who desired to goforward 
and to annex the whole or part of the territories lying between us 
and the Russian possessions in Central Asia. 

These persons had obtained in consequence the name of the 
'' forward school," and the rumours which came from India led to 
the belief that Lord Lytton had taken measures to carry their 
wishes into effect. Notice of an intention to ask a question on 
this subject was given by a member of the late Government the 
very day the House met. But all the means which our Parlia- 
mentary forms put at the disposal of officials, were skilfully used 
to stave off debate, and the Government made no full or elaborate 
statement upon the subject until the month of August.t When it 
did so, it assured the Opposition that although Quetta had 
been temporarily occupied for purely local reasons connected with 
the affairs of the State of Khelat, that occupation had nothing in 
the world to do with the forward policy, with regard to which the 
Government held precisely the same views as their predecessors. 
Thus spoke Sir Stafford Northcote :- 

"As to the occupation of Quetta,if we are to regard that advance 
from a military point of view-a step in the nature of taking up a 
certain position to defend ourselves against an apprehended attack 
-then I should maintain the opinion that it would be a false 
move ; but if our relations with the Government of Khelat are of 
such a character as to demand that we should take certain steps to 
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iml~rove and regulate those relations; if it is thought right and 
desirable that we should send an envoy there, and that the envoy 
should be acconlpanied by a sufficient escort to secure him an 
honourable reception, I do not see that such a course can be open 
to objection, or can be liable to the construction that in taking 
such a step, Her Majesty's Government are doing anything that is 
inconsistent with the policy that has hitherto been pursued-the 
policy originated by Lord Northbrook, approved by my noble 
friend, Lord Salisbury, and continued by the present Viceroy, 
Lord Lytton. I gather from the language of the hon. member for 
Kirkcaldy (Sir George Campbell) and the noble Lord (the 
Marquis of Hartington) that they are not dissatisfied 
with the explanation of my noble friend, they could 
onl'y feel sure that theye 7uas not sovtzething behi~zd. They 
refer to some expressions used by my noble friend, Lord 
Lytton, in which he speaks of the desirability of considering 
our frontier policy as a whole, and treating it from an Imperial 
point of view, and they seem to assume that thatpoliry is going to 
chavrge its charactev, and pass frovt~ a $policy of inactivity into one 
of activity. I do not adinit that that is a fair construction of my 
noble friend's despatch." 

And again :- 
" I hope that hon. gentlemen will not rzm away with t h  &a 

that there is any great revolutionary change of Indian policy in 
OILY vtzinds; nothing could be Itlore unfortutzatc than that that 
shoz~ld be. \Ye have two dangers to guard against. We have, on 
the one hand, to guard against exciting the people of India into 
believing that there is some great policy of aggression in 
contemplation; and, on the other hand, against the idea that we are 
cowed and inactive through fear of some great foe that is coming 
upon us. Neither of these views is true. The policy of England 
is-as it ought to be-a firm and courageous policy, because a 
temperate policy. The lines of it are to strengthen our position 
in that country, to do everything we can to improve the condition 
of the people; not to provoke attack and yet to be ready. I t  is 
necessary to have regard to our relations with the bordering 
tribes-and I do not deny that it becomes all the more necessary 
when events take place in Central Asia, or elsewhere, which cause 
agitation and excitement among those tribes. The maitr lines of 
our policy are u~zcha?zged, and I believe the country will be satisyfea', 
atid 7uiZZ wish them do cotztinue." 

'Thus spoke Lord George Hamilton:-"As Quetta, however, was 
the most convenient station for conducting further negotiations 
Major Sandeinan had remained there. The escort of 986 men who 
had accompanied Major Sandeman, who were all natives, were also 
sent to Quetta ; but the mere fact that the force was under 1000 
men-a force with which it would be evidently impossible to take 
&he iield with any effect-of itself shewed that they were not sent 



for aggressive purposes. He therefore hoped the House zelonld 
disntiss from their minds the idea that either aggression or 
annexation was intended." 

What are we to think of these statements when we bring them 
into connection, first with the fact that before two years were over 
the so-called " scientific frontier " had been extended to a place 
considerably further forward than Quetta, and also that one of the 
points most insisted upon by the Ol~position in the speeches to 
which Sir Stafford Northcote and Lord George Hamilton replied, 
was a passage froin a despatch written by Lord Lytton to Lord 
Salisbury, and which, in that it treated frontier affairs as part of a 
single Imperial question, seemed to imply that the occupation of 
Quetta was not connected merely with the affairs of Khelat, but 
seemed to the Opposition to imply that the occupation of Quetta 
was part of a new scheme of policy inspired by the views of the 
fomrnrd school ? 

Here is the passage in question-a most ominous one. 
" The present Viceroy having had the ndvanfage before leaving 

England of personal co71tnr unicattbn zcllil/l ~ozrr  lordshz) on the 
general szlbject of our frontier relations, mas strong& i~~rpressed by 
the i??qortance of endeavouring to deal 7e)ith the?ft s i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ l t n n e o ~ ~ s @ ,  
as indivisible parts of a single Inrjeriu Z qztestion, inainly depen- 
dent for its solution on the foreign policy of Her Majesty's 
Government, which is the ultimate guardian of the whole British 
Empire, rather than as isolated local matters." * 

Nothing calling for notice occurred on the North-West frontier 
of India during the winter of 1877-78. I n  the spring, however, of 
the latter year the present Government had the fantastic idea of 
bringing an Indian force to Malta, t The Russians, of course, laughed 
at this imbecile little manceuvre, and said, " What is the good of 
bringing Indian troops to Europe when we know that in order to 
send that handful of dusky soldiers you are obliged to keep nearly 
ten tiines as many of your best white-faces in Asia ?" They, however, 
thought that it would be worth their while to shew that two could 
play at that game, and so they also organised an equally idiotic 
little expedition in Central Asia which was to march towards 
Afghanistan, for what purpose they knew best, for it could have 
done about as much harm to the Indian E~npire as a popgun 
could do  to Gibraltar. Either to cover the failure of this expedi- 
tion, or for some other purpose, the Russians sent a very insignifi- 
cant Mission to Cabul in the summer of 1878. Whether the 
Aineer invited the Russian Mission, being anxious to have some 
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European friend after we had ceased to hold diplomatic relations 
with him; or whether he admitted it against his will, fearing that 
he should no longer have the assistance of the British if a rival 
attacked him under Russian protection, I know not, nor is it at 
all material. Anyhow, from some cause or other, he reccived 
the Mission. 

I t  has been said in some of the newspapers that correspondence 
between Russian officials and Shere Ali has been discovered at 
Cabul. I do not know whether the statenlent is true, but 
nothing is more probable. After Lord Lytton had informed him 
that he was an earthen pipkin between two iron pots,* that Russia 
desired to come to an understanding with England at his expense, 
and that England repudiated all liabilities towards him ; when, 
further, all this hostile language was emphasised by the withdrawal 
of our Envoy from Cabul and by the occupation of Quetta, 
Shere Ali would indeed have been different from other Orientals 
if he had not turned to look for some help or coinfort from Russia; 
and considering that Russia nlust have known that war with 
England might have broken out almost at any time after the 
summer of 1876, and must have shrewdly suspected that the 
concentration of troops in North-Western India, about which the 
Duke of Argyll inquired in 1877, was intended to attack her, it 
would have been passing strange if she had not attempted to set 
on foot a little intrigue with the Afghan ruler. It is quite possible 
that even at an earlier period he may have sonletimes asked him- 
self whether something or other might not be got out of his othet 
great neighbour as well as out of the Viceroy. We all know the 
story of the governess, who was asked by another lady of her 
profession whether she taught her pupils to bow at the name of 
the Devil ? " No, indeed, I don't," was the reply. " I do," said 
the other, " I think it is safer ! " Shere Ali may well have taken 
this view, though I know of no evidence that he did. But he 
was quite shrewd enough to be aware that we would be incom- 
parably the most powerful stay, and if he had been treated by 
Lord Salisbury and Lord Lytton with the same calm and kindly 
firmness with which he was treated by Lord Northbrook and the 
Duke of Argyll, his alliance with us would have remained 
unbroken. 

But some reader nlay ask, L'lfThat would the Liberals have 
done if the Russian Mission had gone to Cabul ?" The reply must 
be, " If the liberals had remained in power, this particular mission, 
which cannot have been friendly to us, would never have gone t o  
Cabul, for we should never have blundered into the relations t o  
Russia in which the Tories brought us in 1878 ; but if our 
relations to Russia had been 'stretched,' and this particulm 
mission had been sent, we should have said at St. Petersburgh, 
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' Although this is not a direct breach of your agrec-nwnt with Lord 
Clarendon in 1869, yet under all the circuinstances you must see 
that it is not in accordance with the spirit of that agreement that 
you should be at Cabul just at this moment, and we must request 
you to withdraw."' Such requests mean a good deal, and are 
always complied with by States which do not nlcnn to go to war. 

I t  cannot be too distinctly remembered that as long as I re  and 
Russia were on good terms we had no right, either from the 
ordinary obligations of national courtesy or through agreement, to 
say to the Russians, " You must not send a hlission to Cabul " 
We had no more right to do so, than they would, in the absence of 
any agreement to the contrary, have to forbid our sending 
a Mission to Khiva or Bokhara, if we pleased so to do 
to-morrow. 

The next step would have been to say to the Ameer, of course 
in the most courteous diplomatic language, "We have had but to 
say one word and the Russian Mission disappears from your 
capital. Don't you think you had better reconsider yourself and 
get back into good temper?" Very soon he would ]lave been as 
amenable as he was at Umballa. But the Viceroy's  assio ions were 
roused, and at hoine a little " spirited foreign policy " was wanted. 
The  Jingoes had been baulked of their war with Russia, and it 
was desirable, as Mr. Leatham so well said in the House, to " Y U Z  

into sonzething chenp." 
A letter was accordingly sent, on August 14th, from the Viceroy 

to the Ameer, insisting on the reception of a British Envoy. 
Three days after this, Shere Ali's son, Abdoollah Jan, to whom 

h e  was deeply, and indeed madly devoted, died, and all business 
-was suspended during the period of mourning. On September I 7th 
Sir Neville Chamberlain reported to the Viceroy as follows : 
-"Ameer was very much displeased, objected to the harsh 
words, and said : ' I t  is as if they were to come by force. I do not 
agree to the Mission coming in this manner; and until my officers 
have received orders from me, how can the Mission come? I t  is 
as if they wish to disgrace me ; it is not proper to use pressure in 
this way; it will tend to a coinplete (rupture?) and breach of 
friendship. I ail1 a friend as before, and entertain no ill-will. 
The  Russian Envoy has come, and has come with my permission. 
I am still afflicted with grief at the loss of my son, and have no 
time to think over the matter. If I get time, whatever I con- 
sider advisable will be acted upon. Under these circumstances 
they can do as they like !' Nawab adds that the advance of the 
Mission should be held in abeyance, otherwise some harm will 
occur. Should the Ameer decide to receive the Mission, he \-\.ill 
.of his own accord, and will make all necessary arrangements. If 
Mission advanced now, Nawab anticipates resistance."" 

' Afghan Papers, p. 241. 



On the 18th he reports again :-" Another letter received from 
Nawab Gholam Hussein Khan after an interview with Wazir Shah 
Mahomed, who assured Nawab, on his oath, that the Ameer 
intimated that he would send for the Mission in order to clear u p  
mutual misunderstandings, provided there was no attempt to force 
this Mission upon him without his consent being first granted, 
according to usual custom; otherwise he would resist it, as coming in 
such a manner it would be a slight to him. H e  attributed the 
English grievances against him to mischievous reports of news- 
writers. H e  reiterated his Quetta grievances, kc. H e  says he  
did not invite the Russian Mission, but that, as his country was 
quite exposed and he was estranged from the English, he was 
obliged to let them come on after they crossed the Oxus." * 

On September I gth, Sir Neville Chamberlain reports again :- 
"The Nawab says that the Ameer is in a bad humour, 
and the Ministers tell me that on account of grief and 
indisposition he cannot bear to hear alternately harsh and 
conciliatory language. The Ministers express hope that when 
replies were received to the Nawab's letters of the 12th and 13th, 
the reception of the Mission will be satisfactorily arranged for. 
Further, that if Mission starts on 18th, without waiting for the 
Ameer's permission, there would be no hope left for the renewal 
of friendship or reconciliation. In such a case we cannot hold 
ourselves responsible for anything. What will happen will 
happen. " 1- 

Nezlerl/re/ess, o?z the  PIS^, the Viceroy ordered Sir Neville 
ChamberZai?z to ndzlat~ce, nlzd n Portiotz of the cscort did adzlance 
to the ZiftZtAfghatt fortressofAliA!trsjid. Thecommandant of that 
fortress courteously declined 1 to allow the Embassy to proceed. 
A few days afterwards Shere Ali replied to the Viceroy's letters, 
in a tone which exactly reflected the perplexity into which 
he had been thrown, and the mortification he suffered from the  
harsh and violent way in which the Embassy of Sir Neville 
Chamberlain had been forced upon him. 

Hereupon it was resolved to send an ultimatun~. No answer 
to the ultimatum was received before the date fixed, and on the 
~ 1 s t  of November war was declared. The nlanifesto of the Viceroy 
concluded as follo~vs :- 

" With the Sirdars and people of Afghanistan this Government 
has still no quarrel, and desires none. They ore absoZzied from all 
responsibilz~ from the recent acts of the Atnee?; and as they have 
gi'11en no ofetzce, so the British Goz~ern men t, 7ejishittg to resjcct 
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their indejen de~rce, wi(l ?rot 7triIIingO i1y.21 re o r  in tegtre 7uitll th rr~r, 
nor will the British Government tolerate interference on the part of 
any other Power in the internal affairs of ..Afghanistan. Upon the 
Alneer Shere Ali Khan alone rests the responsibility of having 
exchanged the friendship for the hostility of the Empress of 
India. " * 

In the Declaration of War, dated Noveinber 2  st, I 878, there is 
not the slightest hint that we were going to war with a view to 
plunder Shere Ali or anyone else of any portion of territory. A 
great many causes of war are enumerated, but of a desire to rectify 
our frontier not one syllable. 

On November gth, however, the Prime Minister had taken the 
opportunity of the Lord Mayor's dinner to make the following 
astounding observations :- 

"Our North-Western frontier is a hnphnsclrd and not a 
scientz$ccfrontie~. I t  is in the power of any foe so to embarrass 
and disturb our dominion, that we should be obliged to maintain 
the presence of a great military force in that quarter, entailing on 
the country a proportionate expenditure. These are unquestion- 
ably great evils, and former Viceroys have had their attention called 
with anxiety to the state of our frontier. Recently, however, some 
peculiar circumstances have occurred in that part of the world 
which have convinced Her Majesty's Government that the time 
has arrived when we must terminate all this inconvenience and 
prevent all this possible injury. With this view, we made 
arrangements by which, when completed, in all probability at no 
distant day, all anxiety respecting the North-Western frontier of 
India will be removed." 

A more cynical announcen~ent of an intention to steal can 
hardly have been often made. But it is not, however, to the 
wickedness, but to the absurdity of the proposal that I wish to 
call special attention. For this was the first occasion on which 
the public heard of the since much talked-of scientific frontier. 
I am quite aware that if there were no such thing as the eighth 
commandment, our frontier as it existed before the second Afghan 
War, our haphazard frontier, or, as I should prefer to call it, our 
natural frontier, might have been improved in various ways. But 
when a speaker says that he wants a scientific frontier, he is using 
a perfectly well-known military expression, and ought to use it 
with some regard to its meaning. A scientific frontier is a French 
phrase used to describe the frontier of France towards the Low 
Countries, for whichNature has done nothing, and for which man has 
consequently been obliged to do  everything. When the Prime 
Minister said he wished for a scientific frontier, he said that he 
wanted a line of great fortresses to the west of India, whatever he 
may have meant. 
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When after the war, of which I shall presently have to speak, a 
treaty was signed, the so-called scientific frontier turned out to be 
neither scientific nor a frontier, for it consisted of three or four 
points separated from each other by great distances, and by some 
of the most difficult country in Asis Someone compared it not 
inappropriately to the points of a dilapidated toasting-fork run 
into the mountains of Afghanistan. 

Parliament met in December, and the Afghan Question was 
imnlediately raised by an admirable speech froin Mr. Whitbread. 
As he sat down an old and very experienced member said to me, 
"That is the strongest indictment I ever heard in the House of 
Commons." I could well believe it, for since Mr. Whitbread's 
grandfather attacked Mr. Pitt for his insane policy in I 792, and 
Fox made his great Oczakow oration, there had been few better 
opportunities of the same kind. 

The debate was a very hot one, for the Liberals felt not only 
that the Government had engaged the country in an unnecessary 
and wicked war, which might lead to the very gravest conse- 
quences; and that the whole policy built up by a long succession 
of Viceroys and Secretaries of State had been overthrown at a 
blow, but that even graver issues were raised by what had occurred 
than the wisdom or folly of an Afghan war. If the tactics which 
the Government had adopted with a view to prevent the discussion 
of their policy in the Session of 187 7 were to make a precedent, 
then the whole of our system of Parliamentary government would 
have to be revised. That systettz depends for its s?~zooth 
worlring ujon its being distinct& ~mz'erstood that the sattze rules of 
morality are to gozlern Ministers ziz their conr~ltunicafions with their 
$oZiticaC opponents across the cha?rzbers in which the Ltgislaiure 
meets, as govern English gentZe?tzen in their ordinary intercourse, 
and, above all, upon the assun~tiotr that any th i~g  like wig& 
dece$on is 16tterL'y out of the question. Of course, the moment 
that the papers relating to the affairs of Afghanistan were in the 
hands of the Opposition it was but too evident that the worst 
fears which they had formed and expressed in June and August, 
I 87 7, were only too well-founded, and that affairs had been taking 
a t  those tiines precisely the line which the members of the 
Opposition believed that they had been taking, until the positive 
assurances of Ministers had tranquillised them. 

A disagreeable incident added to the annoyance already felt 
by the Opposition. In a despatch signed by Lord Cranbrook, 
who had succeeded Lord Salisbury at the India Office, and 
.addressed to the Viceroy, statements were made about Lord 
Northbrook and the Duke of Argyll which they both instantly 
a n d  indignantly denied." Explanations of these statements 
were tendered by Ministers after Parliament met; but in the 
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meantime they had been flying round the world with the signature 
of Lord Crambrook, the Secretary of State for India, attached to 
them. I t  might be unjust to accuse Lord Cranbrook of being 
more than technically responsible for these statements. The 
chief moral responsibility must rest elsewhere, but it has never 
transpired that Lord Cranbrook in any way censured the person or 
persons who misled him, and one cannot help remembering the 
jurist's question : " C Z C ~  hot10 ?" for zelhose ndvnntage was it dozze, 
who profled by the deception 1 

The discussion took the turn which most party discussions 
have taken in the Publicans' Parliament. The argument was on 
one side, the votes on the other, but Her Majesty's Ministers 
were naturally able to boast that they had received as a Christmas 
gift the blessing of the Legislature upon their disastrous enterprise. 

Meantime the second Afghan War took its course. No one 
who had ever seriously studied the question doubted that the mere 
military part of the business would be simple enough. As far 
back as 1875 a member of the late Government, writing from 
Peshawur, had said, after describing some military manoeuvres at 
the mouth of the Khyber :- 

"It was a striking sight, and none the less striking because one 
knew that the men before us, and those who were lying behind 
them, on the road along which we have come, could walk over 
anything and everything between this and the Syr Daria. I yield, 
I trust, to no British politician in pacific, and, indeed, in warmly 
friendly feelings towards Russia, but I ain all the freer to indulge 
those feelings, because I well know that so far from having any 
cause to fear her aggression we could, if need were, which God 
forbid ! make her position in Central Asia wholly intolerable. 
When will people learn that, as I have said before, our difficulty 
is not in qoverning India but in goevrning it well? We are strong 
enough now to try to govern it well, and are doing so. If  we were 
weaker, we might be tempted to conciliate the violent and 
turbulent classes by a warlike policy. If we thought a warlike 
policy a right or a wise one, we could occupy all Afghanistan, and 
hold it with the greatest ease. Let no one dream, misled by the 
fiasco of Lord Auckland, that there is any doubt about that. But 
what good would or could come to us from so doing, from 
annexing new expenses and responsibilities without any new 
advantage ?" * 

Given adequate supplies of money and generals fairly up to 
their work, success in Afghanistan was a certainty. Officers who 
would make an indifferent figure if opposed to the highly trained 
ability, the excellent war mathiel, and the thoroughly disciplined 
troops of the great European armies, are very Marlboroughs and 
Napoleons when opposed to disorganised masses of Asiatics, 
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individually brave but wanting all those advantages with whicl, 
civilisation has armed the most advanced communities. 12 

good inany valuable British and British-Indian lives were sacri- 
ficed, a great many fine constitutions were ruined, for the 
climate was the nlost formidable foe. Beasts of burden, and morc 
especially camels were sacrificed with a hideous prodigality which 
North-Western India will long rue, and money was poured out likc 
water. The unhappy Shere Ali was hunted off to a distant corner 
of his dominions where he died of disease, and a treaty was con- 
cluded with his son, Yakoob Khan. 

At home the Opposition forbore to harass the Government 
while the war was going on, and acquiesced in the usual vote of 
thanks to the army. The Government naturally gave as little 
information as they could, but at length towards the end of tht- 
Session the Liberals had the famous Treaty of Gandamak in their 
hands. 

It was easy to see that the idea which had presided over the 
conception of that document was not the statesman's idea, " Let 
me do the best for my country; let me make a settlement which 
will, at least, last for some considerable time." I t  was the tricky 
wirepuller's idea, " Let me make a settlement which, however 
worthless, will look well for a year or two, and last over the next 
election. The Prime Minister said last year that we ' had 
obtained peace with honour in Euroje,' and got a reasonable 
number of fools to believe him. This year I will enable him to 
say with as much truth, and probably with as much success, that 
we have obtainedpeacc with honour in Asia," 

When, on the very last night of the Session, the Opposition at 
length got an opportunity of calling attention to the Treaty, the) 
had no difficulty in shewing that it was not a razor meant to cut, 
but a razor meant to sell ; that the very men who had pushed the 
Government into the " forward policy" were telling them that 
their settlement was not conlplete but required to be large@ 
su~Ze7)rented. One speaker, after criticising most of the articles of 
the Treaty in detail and shewing that amongst others Dr. Bellew, 
who was one of the most important people behind the scenes in 
India through all this Afghan folly, and Sir Henry Rawlinson, who 
was the high priest of the forward school, looked upon the 
Treaty as a mere step towards their own far-reaching designs of 
annexation and conquest, spoke as follows : " The Chancellor of 
the Exchequer will rise before the debate closes, and with that 
Nathaniel manner of his, will deny Dr. Bellew, the oracle of the 
Viceroy ; will deny Sir Henry Rawlinson, the oracle of Lord 
Cranbrook ; will deny the Blachi~ood writer, who addresses the 
forward section of the party. Right hon. gentlemen opposite 
would deny everything in earth and heaven, except, perhaps, since 
the Mansion House speech of the Priille Minister, the Divine in- 
spiration of the English land system. It will not do, however, 



this plan of winking hard at agents while they write one thing for 
one section, and another for another section of the public, while 
yet another and different account is given in Parliament. \Ye may 
say to right hon. gentleinen what was said elsewhere to some of 
their colleagues-"You are beginning to be found out. The Afghan 
War, for which they have taken so inuch credit, will have to find 
its place with its brother impostures-the imposture of Cyprus, the 
imposture of Asia Minor, the imposture of the Balkan 
fortresses. " 

Ministers replied with all the jubilant and allnost insulting 
self-confidence of men who felt that they had gained a glorious 
party triumph, and had made still further progress in the 
policy which their last Prime Minister set before his party as the 
high and statesman-like object which should inspire their efforts- 
the policy of dishing the Wh2gs. Mr. Stanhope, the Under- 
secretary of State for India, made the following amongst many 
other equally sagacious remarks :-* 

" H e  confessed that when he heard the hon. member express a 
desire to bring on a discussion on the subject he had had some 
little hope that in the dying days of the Session they were going 
to hear froin him something like a death bed repentance, and 
after the prophecies of the hon. nzenzber had been so conlpletely 
falszjfed, he had expected to hear some admission of the fact. 
He feared, however, that the political opinions of the hon. member 
were such that they could not change, no matter how circum- 
stances might alter." 

And again :- 
" But, after all, what was the general effect of the Treaty 

Had it alienated the Ameer from us? Far from it, for the Anzeer 
was now on the ??lost friendly tervns with us, and accepted the 
Treaty in the most cordial spirit. Had it alienated the people 
of Afghanistan ? The hon. and learned member for Oxford 
(Sir William Harcourt) had said : You have inspired the people 
of that country with such a hatred towards you, that all the 
ground you fail to occupy will be the fortress of your foes.' The 
result had, however, gone to shew-and the occupation of 
Candahar, undertaken for temporary purposes, afforded strong 
proof of it-that the people of Afghanistan, as a whole, had no 
unfriendly feelings towards us. The policy htely pursued had 
gabled for this cozlntry a fritvtdly, an independent, and a strong 
Afghanistan. British influence was paramount in that country ; 
our frontier was secure to a degree which had never before 
existed-at any r ~ t e ,  for many years past; and the Governv~zenf 
were proud-as the count?y, in his opinion, would be proud-of the 
great rfsuZts which had been acco?~lpZished, mainly owing to the 
patien t foresight and perseverance of Lord Lytton-results which it 
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would trot be possible for any polititl'nn, either t?z or out of the 
House, to 111 in i~i~ise.'' 

And further :- 
" Then the hon. ineinber had called attention to the clause by 

which they were entitled to place a British Kesident at Cabul. 
Ue sltjposed that no onc 7clould revert to n'ze dangers and the dl#- 
c~dties of placing aTz Envoy there that had been nzetrtio?zed in 
Decent her, for all those prognostications 11 nd been con t radicted by 
s~ibsepzient facts. The Anzeer had accepted a Resident, and had 
fixed his place c j  residence at Cablrl, contrary to the expectations 
expressed nt the time. Major Carmag~~nri, zelhose ready tact and 
grozeu'~~g friendshi$ with the Avieer, 71zarhed hi//) as special4 
qual@ed, had been appoi~zted to the post. He 7uas received with 
every de?1tonstmtion of cordiality, nlzd 7uas able to go nbolit the city 
70ith perfect freedol~r, and fozdnd that Ire 7elas zrlell received not only 
by the Ameer but by thepeoplc." 

Sir Stafford Northcote was not less equal to the occasion. H e  
observed :- 

" I shall not enter at any great length into the question that 
has been raised. My hon. friend, the Under-Secretary of State 
for India, has, I think, in one of the clearest and one of the best 
speeches it has ever been nzy pleasure to listen to i t 1  this House, 
explai7led the real positzon of afairs and the policy of the Govcm- 
?/lent; a d  has ginen a co?llplete anshler to the observatiozs of the 
/[on. nle~~zber for the Elgirl Burghs and the Aon. nienzber for Kirk- 
cala')~. The noble Lord said he did not hear all the remarks of my 
hon. friend. I am not surprised at that ; for if he had heard the 
opening observations of my hon. friend he would, I think, have 
endeavoured to reply to them. My hon. friend asked the hon. 
member for the Elgin Burghs a question which it might have been 
well if the noble Lord had answered. He asked what object or 
advantage they anticipated from the sort of speeches they had 
made on the present occasion? What is to be the advantage 
which is to be derived by the country from this kind of criticism 
and this sort of discussion, which, as we know, will not be limited 
to the walls of this House ? The main yoints in the mind of the 
noble Lord appeared to be to express a feeling of disappointment, 
first, at the success of the Government in spite of the prophecies 
so freely uttered against the possibility of such success ; and, 
secondly, against the moderation of the Government." 

In Mr. Kaye's history of the first Afghan MTar there is a page, 
the third of the third volume, which perfectly describes what 
happened before the echoes of the speeches of Ministers had died 
away. Here it is :- 

" Afghanistan-serene and 1,rosl)erous Afghanistan-with its 
popular government and its grateful people, was in arms against 
its deliverers. Suddenly the tranquillity of that doomed 
country, boasted of in Cabul, and credited in Calcutta, was found 



to be a great delusion. Across the whole Z'ngill and brendt/r ofi/lP 
the history of that &antic lie was writtell in chlzracters of 

blood. It was now too deplorably manifest that, although a ~ritis'h 
army had crossed the Indus and cantoned itself at Cabul and 
Candahar, the Afghans were Afghans still ; still a nation of fierce 
Mahomedans, of hardy warriors, of independent mountaineers ; 
still a people not to be dragooned into peace, or awed into 
submission, by a scattering of foreign bayonets and the 
pageantry of a puppet king." 

Intelligence reached thjs country early in September that Sir 
Louis Cavagnari and his escort had been attacked at Cabul by a 
greatly superior force, and after a gallant struggle had been over- 
powered and destroyed. 

Of course the result of this was a third Afghan War, the end of 
which we have not yet seen, but we have a large, indeed an 
overwhelming force, and every conceivable advantage for bringing 
that war to a successful conclusion. Nothing but the grossest 
military incapacity can or ever could have made its issue 
doubtful. 

But let us suppose the third Afghan War triu?t$/zant& concluded, 
the usual honours showered amongst the commanders, Lord Lytton 
made an Earl, and so forth.. The question is what next, and next ? 
Again we shall be confronted with the same problem which has 
perplexed the statesman for long years. Are Russia and England 
to becoine next neighbours in Asia, or are they to be separated 
by a belt of territory? If the first of these alternatives is to be 
accepted, where is the line to be drawn ? Is Russia to be allowed 
to acquire any part of Afghanistan, or are we to acquire the whole 
of i t?  T o  that last question the answer of the Liberals has ever 
been, ' L  Russia promised to us to respect the independence of 
Afghanistan; as long as we were in office she did so scrupulously, 
and if she had not done so, we should have known how to make 
her keep to her obligation." What the answer of the Conservatives 
inay be I know not ; but undoubtedly if they retain the positions 
in Afghanistan which they took under the Treaty of Gandamak, 
and still inore if they take additional positions, they will have so 
altered the relations of this country and Russia, as they were in 
1869 and 1873, that it will be absolutely necessary to re-open 
the discussion between the two Governments which the Liberals 
so satisfactorily closed. 

The Beaconsfield Governinent has by its own act completely 
altered the aspect of affairs under which Russia bound herself to Mr. 
Gladstone's Government, and has broken down every co~zventio~zal 
barrier to her advance. The outbreak of n war could have done 
no more. 

But supposing the question settled by our taking the whole of 
Afghanistan and Russia conling to the borders of that country, we 
shall have done two things ; first, we shall have advanced to meet 



Itussin ,rhere she is getting always stronger, and where we must 
always be comparatively weak ; secondly, we shall either have 
involved the British or the Indian taxpayej, or both, in new and 
continually increasing responsibilities. I do not think the British 
taxpayer will like to have his burden increased for the pleasure of 
being weaker with reference to Kussia than he was before, and it 
is notorious that in India, so far from having any money to throw 
away upon Afghanistan, if we could raise by taxation inillions and 
illillions more than we do every year, we could spend every penny 
of it and be still very far indeed from giving to that country a 
really civilised administration. Remember that the average 
Indian district is as large as Devon and Cornwall put together, 
that there are some districts as big as Yorkshire, and that the 
providence of those districts is one over-worked British official. 
If we are really to do justice to India, really to justify our being 
there at all, we ought to be able to multiply the European brain 
power which is now given to its affairs, half-a-dozen times over. 
We are unable, froin sheer inability to raise a larger taxation, 
to do anything like our duty to India, and yet we must needs 
go seeking adventures of the most costly description beyond its 
frontier. 

Our position in India when the Duke of Argyll left the India 
Office, was exactly that of a landowner who possessed a large, 
rather poor, very iinljrovable, and extremely encumbered estate, 
but who by dint of taking infinite pains inanaged to do a little every 
year for his property, and just, taking one with another year contrived 
to make the two ends meet. When Lord Salisbury succeeded, it 
is only right to say that in all particulars except one he carried on, 
or developed the wise financial l~olicy of his predecessors. Since 
~ 8 7 4  the Indian Government has had some great financial 
nlisfortunes and sonlc great financial pieces of luck, but 
to revert to my simile of the landowner, that personage 
instead of minding his own affairs, and them exclusively, 
has engaged in a frightfully costly law suit with a neighbour, which 
may end, after involving hiin in calamities of every sort, in adding 
to his estate a large expanse of country, which will cost him vast 
sums of money every year, and bring the probability of new law 
suits and new calamities. Strike the Afghan Wars out of the 
calculation, and the Tory administration of Indian finance would 
have been one of the redeeming points of their policy. Include 
them, and their il~anageinent of Indian finance sinks to a 
level with inost of their other. doings, and becomes utterly 
detestable. 

But there are solne of our incidental proceedings in Afghanistan 
which may exercise a reflex action, upon our position in India, and 
upon the estiination inwhichwe are held throughout the world, about 
which I must say a word. \Yhen at the comlnellcenlent of the third 
Afshan War it was allnoul~ccd that newspaper corresl~ondence from 



the army was to be put under some restrictions, many people, 
I suppose, although a good deal startled, suspended their judg- 
ment and waited for explanation. There might, they thought, 
be some reason for i t  which did not appear. As time went on, 
however, it became but too probable that there were noin]portant 
military reasons for these restrictions, that the main object ofthem 
was that free course might be given to the rage which was felt by 
the Government and by the Viceroy at the ludicrous f a1 '1 ure of 
their plans and their prophecies, without its creating too great an 
amount of horror in the mind of the public at home. 
We do not know, and until the Liberals return to power we shall 
never know, the true history of these two wars with all their cruel 
and bloody details, but some fragments of information have 
reached the public which give some indication of the spirit in 
which our operations are being carried on. 

The following passage is quoted in the Fortn&hfZy Review for 
January, 1880, from the Daily News of December 15th, 
1879 :- 

' (The work of the Military Coinmission has been unusually 
heavy during the last few days, though by the terms of the 
amnesty which has been issued to-day it is probable that their 
distasteful task of sentencing men to be hanged by the score will 
now be almost closed. Hitherto the Commission has condemned 
all who were shewn to have fought against us at Charasiab on 
the 6th of October, or on the Cabul heights two days later. The 
regiments then in arms, and the 1)opulation of Cabul, were warned 
that by resistance to the British they would have become rebels 
against their lawful sovereign, and must expect no mercy. The 
abdication of Yakoob Khan did not condone their offence. On 
the 6th, seven men brought in by General Gough's force from 
the Shuturgardan and the intermediate villages were hanged, 
one being a havildar of a Herat regiment present in Cabul at the 
massacre. This was followed by an excursion into the Chnrdeh 
Valley, the villagers of which were known to be harbouring dis- 
banded Sepoys. The mullicks, or headmen, were summoned by 
General Baker, who ordered them to bring out all Sepoys of the 
Afghan army. Five minutes' grace was allowed, and within this 
time thirty men came forward. The General had a roll-call, 
shewing the names of Sepoys known to live or be hidden in 
Indikee, and as many of these were missing, the ~nullicks were 
asked to explain their absence. They admitted that twenty men 
were absent, but promised to bring then1 in when they returned. 
General Baker then visited smaller villages near and captured 
eighteen more Sepoys. There could be little doubt that most of 
them had been trained as soldiers ; they fell into their places 
shoulder to shoulder when the order to start was given, and, 
keeping time to the quick step of the Sikhs, marched along in 
good order to our camp. Forty more Sepoys were brought in by 
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the mullicks, on the 9th and roth, as well also as a fakir, who-had 
been wounded. This made eighty-nine in all, and they have been 
dealt with as follows :-- 

November I 0th ... I I hanged 6 released. 
Novelllber I rth ... 28 9 ,  I9 9 9  

November I 2 t h ... 10 9 ,  I 3  $ 9  

2 pardoned 
and retained 

as informants. 
- - 

Total 49 40 

The inen executed belonged to the Herat regiments. They 
were either at Cabul when the outbreak occurred, or returned 
later to fight against us, the muster-rolls now in our hands 
enabling us to identify thein without much trouble. They did not 
attempt to give false names ; and their mullicks were warned that 
they themselves inight incur further punishment if they screened 
Sepoys belonging to their villages. Such as cnlcld not give a clear 
accoulzt of their l)touemtnts were colzdelnned to death, and thy 
submitted to their fate with the usual quiet reszgnation of M m u l -  
mans. Many zucve of the worsf type of Afghans; and thir 
callousness, when 7uaifing their turn at the foot of the scafold (ten 
men were hnngcd at  a time), was rtmarkabk."-Daily N m s ,  
December I 5 th. 

I t  is obvious that the sympathies of the writer of this account 
were strongly against the prisoners, for a humane gamekeeper 
would hardly write more coolly about the death of so many pole- 
cats. Suppose for a moment that these were Kentish volunteers, 
who had been hanged for opposition to a French General marching 
on London, their crime would have been the same, and the 
same writer would have described them as heroes and 
martyrs. 

Let us hope that when Parliament meets, some of the many 
rumours that are circulating may be shewn to be errors or 
exaggerations. This can, however, it is to be feared, hardly be the 
case with all of them. Horrible, however, as such things are, 
they are but the fringe of the subject. The whole policy, from the 
alnd of January, 1875, to the present hour, has been one vast 
web of crime. It is bad to put prisoners to death in cold 
blood by tens ; but it is at least as bad to force a quarrel 
upon a sovereign, on a mere question of etiquette, to assure 
his subjects that you do not entertain the slightest hostility 
to them, as was done by the Viceroy in his Declaration of War ; 
and then to slaughter them by thousands in the field, inflicting 
thereby, indirectly, intolerable calamities upon women, children, 



and other non-combatants. But the wickedness of the whole 
proceeding is swallowed up in its intolerable folly ; in the destruc- 
tion of that strong, friendly, and independent Afghanistan 
which the Government itself professed to desire to maintain ; 
in the abolition of all our arrangements with Russia in Asia; 
in the vast moral advantage given to that Power if ever she desires, 
by moving in Asia, to gain an advantage over us in the Balkan 
Peninsula or in Armenia; in the crazy dreams, which if this 
Government lasts a few years longer, will make us responsible for 
the whole of Asia, from the far end of Assam on the borders of 
China, to the eastern shore of the Bosphorus, 

They believed in old days that the curse of Heaven clung to 
the houses of rulers who did evil deeds. We are acquainted with 
the story of the banquet of Thyestes, and all that came of it in 
the imagination of the Greeks. Now, however, we know but too 
well that that is not the way in which retribution works, and that 
on the most innocent of us and on our children, as much as on 
them and theirs, may rest the burden of the sins in which Her 
Majesty's present advisers have involved their country. 
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